
Planning Commission Minutes 1 January 6, 2015 
 

Planning Commission 
Special Meeting  
January 6, 2015  
Martinez, CA 

 

CALL TO ORDER  
The Planning Commission meeting was called to order by Chair Sigrid Waggener with all 
members present except for Commissioner Kelly and Alternate James Blair.  
 
ROLL CALL  
PRESENT: Sigrid Waggener, Planning Commission Chair, Jeffrey Keller, Vice Chair, Donna 

Allen, Planning Commissioner, Dwayne Glemser, Planning Commissioner, 
Kimberley Glover, Planning Commissioner, and Gabriel Lemus, Planning 
Commissioner. 

EXCUSED: Paul Kelly, Commissioner and James Blair, Alternate. 
ABSENT:  
 
Staff present:  Planning Manager Dina Tasini, Senior Planner Corey Simon  
 
AGENDA CHANGES  
None.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
None.  
 
CONSENT ITEMS  
 
1. Minutes of November 12, 2014, meeting.
 
On motion by Kimberley Glover, Planning Commissioner, seconded by Donna Allen, Planning 
Commissioner, to approve the Minutes of the November 12, 2014, meeting. Motion unanimously 
passed 6 - 0. Yes: Sigrid Waggener, Planning Commission Chair Jeffrey Keller, Vice Chair 
Donna Allen, Planning Commissioner Dwayne Glemser, Planning Commissioner Kimberley 
Glover, Planning Commissioner , Gabriel Lemus, Planning Commissioner.  
 
REGULAR ITEMS  
 
2. Pine Meadow Subdivision Sub #9358 (13PLN-0028) Public hearing to consider the 

following action to allow the construction of 99 Single Family homes on a 25.9 acre site: 
a) Rezoning from M-OS/RF to R-7.5 (One Family Residential, 7,500 sq.ft. per 
unit/Planned Unit Development Overlay; and b) Approval of a 99 unit Major Subdivision; 
c) Approval of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Plan located at 451 Vine Hill Way. 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on November 12, 2014, to review the 
Planned Development, and the Planning Commission recommended approval.  However, 
after further review staff found that the PUD plan had not been reviewed by the Design 
Review Committee. The Design Review Committee held a public hearing on December 10, 



Planning Commission Minutes 2 January 6, 2015 
 

2014, in order to provide the Committee with an opportunity to make its advisory 
recommendation to the Planning Commission pursuant to Municipal Code Section 
22.42.080 (B).  The Design Review Committee recommended approval of the PUD plan. 
The Planning Commission must now reconsider its recommendation to the City Council 
regarding the Rezoning/Planned Development and PUD plan. On November 12, 2014, an 
Initial Study evaluating this project’s environmental impact was prepared, as required by 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), and the Planning Commission 
recommended to the City Council for adoption.  The Initial Study found the project would 
not have a significant impact on the environment, due to proposed mitigation measures  

 
Planning Manager Dina Tasini introduced the item, discussing the previous hearing and the 
realization that Design Review for site plan review had not been held as required.  Subsequently, 
the Design Review Commission met on December 10, 2014, and they recommended approval of 
the project.  Ms. Tasini indicated that Design Review comments in the staff report were verbatim 
comments from notes taken at the meeting. 
 
She noted that under consideration at tonight's meeting is the Planned Unit Development (PUD), 
including the request for rezoning, approval of the PUD plan and the vesting tentative map.  She 
also responded to comments by Commissioner Allen regarding parking along Vine Hill, and she 
indicated that the applicant and the Public Works Department were agreeable to her changes to 
either include a sidewalk or a pathway, but both were redundant.  Changes can be accomplished 
by modifying the Conditions of Approval regarding street improvements.  Commissioner Allen 
confirmed with staff about curb and gutter requirements.  
 
Ms. Tasini also noted that the project has not changed substantially since the previous Planning 
Commission meeting, and the Design Review Committee was mostly in favor of the proposed 
project, except for one member who voiced concern and did not support the project.  
 
She clarified that the comments of the Design Review Committee are relevant to the PUD plan. 
General Plan Amendment is not being considered, since it was as approved by the Planning 
Commission in November.  
 
Michael Evans, Project Manager for DeNova Homes, presented changes made to the project in 
response to the DRC recommendations: inclusion of a meandering pathway, small 
recreation/picnic area in the NE corner in the vicinity of the bioswale, and the addition of bulb-
outs along A Street to provide diversity to streetscape.  He also discussed additional tree 
replacements, resulting in an average of 3 trees per house, as well as changes to perimeter lots. 
 
He asked the Planning Commission to recommend approval to the City Council for the PUD and 
the vesting tentative map.  
 
Chair Waggener opened the Public hearing. 
 
MC O'BRYANT noted that his home was sold to him with the understanding that the golf course 
would be next door, with promises of open space protection from the City Council.  He 
expressed concern about the community recreation area being changed to more houses where 



Planning Commission Minutes 3 January 6, 2015 
 

none are needed, with a potential ghetto onsite in the future.  He suggested a bond measure to 
enable the City to purchase the property, and formation of a committee of those whose property 
stands to be devalued to consider appropriate uses.  He questioned how much the new homes 
will cost.  
 
RAMON LOPEZ noted that profit-making should not be the only consideration.  He was 
concerned about community impacts, and he urged the politicians to listen to the community. 
 
DENNIS CUNNANE read from sections of the City Municipal Code that this project violates.  
He stated that the hills should be protected, as expressed by the DRC dissenting member and 
another member who was concerned about the flattening of hillside.  He was also concerned 
about impression of high end, exclusive homes that will hog the green space.  He noted 
the project should also be more designed around the hills instead. 
 
MERRIILYN SMITH, Martinez resident since 1960s, near the golf course since 1979, 
acknowledged the developer has done much for quality development in the City, and she 
supports this project. 
 
GRACIE JOHNSTON was also impressed with the proposal and expressed her full support. 
 
MIKE WICKHAM asked the Commission to keep the land zoned recreational open space, and 
he was concerned about school impacts to already strained resources.  
 
AIMEE DURFEE, Martinez resident and member of Martinez Environmental Group, urged 
reconsideration of the zoning change.  She thought the golf course would make an excellent 
park.  She was opposed to the project. 
 
TOM GRIFFITH, Martinez Environmental Group, agreed with earlier speaker that it would be 
good to compare pictures of the existing open space against the proposed housing development. 
 He was concerned about the loss of trees and loss of a public access golf course.  He did not 
think the proposed small park was enough of a concession. 
 
JON BECKER, resident since 1950, commented that this project will be a good addition to 
Martinez and should be approved.  
 
ROBIN HOUDASHELL, read a letter from KELLY CALHOUN regarding the need for a 
General Plan Update to guide future long-term development and potential litigation if the project 
is approved under the outdated General Plan.  The letter also reiterated concerns with air quality, 
visual impacts, road conditions, and school impacts, and concluded that the decision should be 
postponed until after the General Plan is updated. 
 
JIM NEU, Martinez Environmental Group, expressed that allowing a General Plan amendment 
while the General Plan update is pending is wrong.  He was concerned about environmental 
impacts, and provisions for a climate action plan. 
 
RHONDA BEATTY-GALLO expressed concern about how the public notification was handled, 



Planning Commission Minutes 4 January 6, 2015 
 

while being represented as the only option for the golf course.  She noted there was almost 
unanimous community support for keeping the open space, and she reported on her efforts to 
notify the neighborhood and get input regarding the neighborhood's opinion regarding the 
development. 
 
JIM HEIN said he was not totally opposed to this project; he has 44 acres he would like to build 
5 houses on, as well as Gary Freitas' proposal for 5 houses (both proposals were opposed by 
neighbors).  He was concerned about the high density of the project and the loss of open space. 
 He indicated it was not appropriate for this neighborhood, and existing traffic impacts are bad 
enough.  He asked how this project will benefit the community.  He noted that the houses will 
likely sell for $600,000 each. 
 
ROBIN HOUDASHELL commented on the City Council denial of development here years ago, 
and she stated that the majority of residents would like to see the golf course remain.  She 
expressed concern about negative impacts on the environment and the community.  She asked 
for denial of the subdivision; she would rather see the City purchase the property, as preferred by 
the current owners.  She challenged the Planning Commission to do the right thing. 
 
DON WILSON, neighboring property owner (abuts golf course), expressed his support for the 
project. He noted that the owners can't afford to keep the golf course, and the City can't afford to 
buy it.  He also commented on other unimproved open space and the lack of needed 
maintenance.  He also indicated he would not want a winding pathway along his property line. 
 
LAURA INGRASSIA, James Coward's granddaughter, responded to the implication that the 
family is motivated by greed.  She was supportive of the rights of all to speak their opinions, but 
she expressed that the family has waited 5 years for the City to act.  She reiterated that this is 
private property, not public open space.  She also pointed out that this proposal is 
environmentally-friendly and will be an asset to City.  She asked for understanding from the 
community. 
 
CHERIE HARO, 60-year Martinez resident, expressed concern about the continued densification 
of the City; the developers can do better by John Muir's City.  She wanted Martinez to look like a 
City that honors the past while protecting the future.  
 
MARK THOMSON reported on a meeting held in December to consider options for the site, 
followed by a community survey - 5% had no opinion, 4% supported development of the site, 
and 90% would like it kept open space.  The response to a follow-up question regarding an 
increase in property taxes to allow the City to purchase the property, 60% indicated they would 
support it.  He was concerned about the lack of community input in the General Plan update 
process for this property. 
 
TIM PLATT commented on the General Plan update process, and a recommendation that the 
designation as permanent open space, recreational, is valid.  He also discussed the loss of habitat, 
and the community benefit that could result if the site is dedicated permanent open space.  He 
suggested the City purchase the property and designate the site as a park honoring the 
Coward/Dean family, noting that the City has the funds to act.  He asked the Planning 



Planning Commission Minutes 5 January 6, 2015 
 

Commission to delay action until the City can make the purchase. 
 
DAN SWANSON, resident since 1972, indicated his family will soon be moving out of state. 
 He acknowledged this site is private property, but if it is developed as proposed there will be 
neighborhood impacts on water service, traffic, schools, etc.  He urged the Planning Commission 
to consider those impacts in making its decision, and consider reducing the number of units and 
increasing mitigation measures. 
 
Seeing no further speakers, Chair Waggener closed the public hearing.  
 
 
Commission Comment 
Commissioner Lemus asked for confirmation that the General Plan amendment has been 
approved already.  Staff confirmed that was so, and confirmed that the conditions of approval 
can still be modified. 
 
Commissioner Allen asked for clarification about the possibility of the City purchasing the 
property and whether a PUD is appropriate.  She commented that the City Council has 
considered an enhanced infrastructure finance agreement for 2016.  She saw no need for the 
Planning Commission to take action until the General Plan Update is completed. 
 
Chair Waggener asked about the proposed changes to Street A, the bulb outs and vegetation. 
 
Dave Sanson confirmed that was the DRC recommendation.  He also addressed some of 
the misconceptions presented by some of the speakers.  He expressed appreciation for the 
comments from the public, and he acknowledged the public's desire for preserving the open 
space, but he reiterated statements from earlier meetings that the City is not willing or able to 
purchase the property for a park.  He also pointed out the extended period that this development 
has been in process, and he felt there was no further possibility for the site to become parkland. 
 He noted that this project will provide tax funds for the City to use to improve streets, schools, 
etc and for future parkland purchases.  
 
Commissioner Allen asked if this item is already on the Council's calendar.  Ms. Tasini said yes, 
for the January 21st meeting.  Commissioner Allen confirmed that the Planning Commission will 
not make the final decision, but only a recommendation for Council action.   
 
On motion by Donna Allen, Planning Commissioner, to postpone action on the item until the 
Council has made a decision about the General Plan Amendment.  Motion failed due to lack of a 
second.  
 
Chair Waggener noted that the applicant and developer have the right to make development 
applications and have them processed in a timely manner.  She thought it important for the 
Planning Commission to make recommendations on the item before them.  She also expressed 
appreciation to the applicant for information provided in response to the DRC recommendation. 
 
Staff, the developer and his representatives responded to questions from Commissioner Allen 



Planning Commission Minutes 6 January 6, 2015 
 

regarding the topography of the site, proposed changes to the pathway and sidewalk, parking on 
Vine Hill, and changes to the Conditions of Approval to incorporate the requirements. 
 
There was further discussion between the developer, staff and the Commission regarding 
acceleration/deceleration lanes, landscaping, bike lane, front yard setbacks, side yard setbacks 
for corner lots, LEEDs certification, green building requirements, concerns over the pedestrian 
pathway on Parcel B, potential split of the bioswale as recommended by the DRC, parking at the 
entryways into the project, tree preservations and replacements, and variation in size of the trees 
throughout the development.  
 
On motion by Dwayne Glemser, Planning Commissioner, seconded by Jeffrey Keller, Vice 
Chair, to approve Resolution No. PC-14-05, recommending to the City Council the adoption of a 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) Overlay District, and approval of a PUD Plan and Vesting 
Tentative Map for the development of up to 99 single family homes Planned Unit Development 
("Pine Meadows") on 25.9 acre, parcel located at 451 Vine Hill Way, with modifications to the 
Conditions of Approval as suggested by the Planning Commission. Motion passed 5 - 1. Yes: 
Sigrid Waggener, Planning Commission Chair, Jeffrey Keller, Vice Chair, Dwayne Glemser, 
Planning Commissioner, Kimberley Glover, Planning Commissioner, Gabriel Lemus, Planning 
Commissioner, No: Donna Allen, Planning Commissioner, Excused: Paul Kelly, Planning 
Commissioner and James Blair, Alternate.  
 
COMMISSION ITEMS  
None.  
 
STAFF ITEMS  
None.  
 
COMMUNICATIONS  
Staff confirmed there are no Planning Commission meetings scheduled for the near future. 
 
Ms. Tasini discussed an upcoming review of the Housing Element, as required by the state 
Housing & Community Development Department.  
 
 
Chair Waggener adjourned the meeting adjourned at 9:00 p.m.  
 
 
Respectfully Submitted Approved by the Planning Commission 
 Chairperson 
 
 
Mary Hougey Sigrid Waggener, Chair 
 


